DRAFT

Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 21 JULY 2021

Councillors Present: Phil Barnett, Jeff Cant, Hilary Cole, Carolyne Culver, Lynne Doherty (Substitute) (In place of Dennis Benneyworth), Garth Simpson (Substitute) (In place of Clive Hooker), Tony Vickers (Vice-Chair, in the Chair) and Howard Woollaston

Also Present: Sharon Armour (Solicitor), Stephen Chard (Principal Policy Officer), Paul Goddard (Team Leader - Highways Development Control), Masie Masiiwa (Planning Officer), Gordon Oliver (Corporate Policy Support) and Simon Till (Senior Planning Officer)

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting: Councillor Dennis Benneyworth and Councillor Clive Hooker

PART I

7. Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2021 were available for this meeting, however the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2021 were approved as a true and correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the inclusion of the following amendments:

Item 2, page 17, paragraph 2: removal of duplicate text.

Item 3, page 20, paragraph 13: "would have a precedent", should read "would have set a precedent".

8. Election of Vice Chairman

Councillor Tony Vickers noted, as per paragraph 4.6.7 of the Council's Constitution, that as there was no Chairman present and the Vice-Chairman was acting as Chairman, the Committee must elect a Vice-Chairman for the meeting and he invited nominations.

Councillor Howard Woollaston nominated Councillor Hilary Cole. This proposal was seconded by Councillor Jeff Cant. At the vote the motion was carried.

9. Declarations of Interest

Councillors Adrian Abbs, Phil Barnett, Jeff Cant, Hilary Cole, Carolyne Culver, Lynne Doherty, Tony Vickers and Howard Woollaston declared an interest in Agenda Item 4.1, but reported that, as their interest was a personal or an other registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

Councillor Lynne Doherty declared an interest in Agenda Item 4.2, but reported that, as their interest was a personal or an other registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

Councillors Adrian Abbs, Phil Barnett, Tony Vickers and Howard Woollaston declared an interest in Agenda Item 4.3, but reported that, as their interest was a personal or an other

registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

10. Schedule of Planning Applications

(1) Application No. and Parish: 20/02402/REG3, Newbury Football Club, Faraday Road, Newbury

(Councillors Hilary Cole, Lynne Doherty and Howard Woollaston declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(1) by virtue of the fact that they were members of the Executive. As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillors Phil Barnett and Tony Vickers declared a personal interest in Agenda item 4(1) by virtue of the fact that they were members of Newbury Town Council's Planning and Highways Committee where this item had been considered. As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillor Jeff Cant declared a personal interest in Agenda item 4(1) by virtue of the fact that he was a Ward Member for this application. As his interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

(Councillors Adrian Abbs and Carolyne Culver declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(1).)

- 1. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(1)) concerning Planning Application 20/02402/REG3 in respect of Newbury Football Club, Faraday Road, Newbury, RG14 2AD. Approval was sought for the creation of open space for public recreation including demolition of former football ground clubhouse; delivery of new parking spaces and erection of timber bollards and new fencing generally.
- 2. Mr Masie Masiiwa (Senior Planning Officer) introduced the report to Members, which took account of all the relevant policy considerations and other material planning considerations. In conclusion the report detailed that the proposal was acceptable in planning terms and officers recommended that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to grant planning permission, subject to the conditions outlined in the main and update reports.
- 3. The Chairman asked Mr Paul Goddard, Team Leader (Highways Development Control), if he had any observations relating to the application. Mr Goddard indicated that the application followed previous applications which had been looked at extensively with regard to highways, particularly parking accumulation. With the planning applications that had been submitted in 2018, extensive surveys had been undertaken with regard to the use of the car park and the results concluded that with mainly off-peak use, there would be sufficient car parking available. On that basis, there was no objection on traffic grounds because any traffic generation was mainly off-peak. There was an existing car park on the site which was being re-vitalised and there was no objection from Highways to this proposal.
- 4. Councillor Phil Barnett noted that no Town Council representative was due to speak to the item, but this was because the Officer who should have given notification by 4.00pm on the day before the meeting, was on annual leave. Councillor Barnett felt this put Members in a difficult position and said that even at the site meeting, discussion had taken place about who would be speaking. He therefore made a request for the sake of transparency to suspend Standing Orders to allow the

Newbury Town Council representative to speak at this meeting. The Chairman indicated that this would be possible if the majority of the Committee also wished to suspend Standing Orders. Councillor Hilary Cole stressed that if it was agreed to suspend Standing Orders, it should be made clear that this was an exceptional circumstance to avoid similar requests in future. She agreed that it was a sensitive application. The Chairman agreed there had to be an exceptional reason. He acknowledged the situation with Covid-19, problems and the fact that Parish / Town Councils had experienced issues with their internal communications and the situation where there had been no Chairman or Vice-Chairman supervising the site visits. As such, there were mitigating circumstances as well as being a matter of extreme public interest. At the vote, the motion to suspend Standing Orders proposed by Councillor Barnett and seconded by Councillor Abbs was carried.

5. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, the following addressed the Committee on this application: Vaughan Miller (Newbury Town Council); Lee McDougall and Les Durrant (objectors); and Bill Bagnell (applicant).

Parish/Town Council Representation

- 6. Mr Miller in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - The application was to significantly change the use of the community leisure facility, as such, it should demonstrate benefits to the community, meet a community need, and be compliant with policy.
 - The application did not demonstrate any clear benefits.
 - **Community benefit:** there would be a loss of a first-class football pitch and so the bar was set extremely high in terms of being able to demonstrate any benefit. The proposal was to replace the football pitch with a recreational area which would have no markings or goal posts, which would not be a MUGA and would be of no benefit to the community.
 - **Financial benefit:** demolishing the club house and changing facilities would save the Applicant approximately £17,000 over the next 3 years, but would cost the Applicant £191,000 to do so. There may be some income from parking charges, but it was not proven that this would be sufficient to prevent significant loss over the cost of the project.
 - Since this was public money and there would be no demonstrable economic or public benefit, this could not be justified and made it more likely, if the application were to be approved, that the decision would be ripe for appeal.
 - The Applicant had not demonstrated the need for another recreational area in that part of the town, which was well catered for by Victoria Park and Fireman's Field.
 - The Applicant had not demonstrated any need for extra parking; the existing parking on the site was not fully used and the need for a further 80 parking spaces had not been demonstrated. A new multi-storey car park was being built at the station with hundreds of spaces.
 - The Playing Pitch Strategy stated there was a very low level of football provision across the area that was secured for long-term community use, i.e. only 24%. This demonstrated a clear need for more pitches for organised football, not general recreational usage. This application did not go any way to meeting that need.

- This application was opposed to the Council's own policies; according to policy ADPP2, the existing community facility would be protected and where appropriate enhanced. This proposal neither protected nor enhanced the existing facility.
- The Playing Pitch Strategy also stated that Sport England policy exception 4 applied; namely that a replacement facility should be operational prior to the commencement of development. At the site visit, the Planning Officer had confirmed the application did constitute development and it was clear that no development was allowed on the site until a replacement facility was operational.
- In relation to the planning balance in conclusion section 7.3 of the report, the proposal would in no way provide continued provision of a community leisure facility. The current leisure facility was a football ground and it was therefore wrong to suggest that these plans would provide continued provision of a community leisure facility and this argument, and the significant weight given to it, should be dismissed.
- Officers considered that the benefits of bringing the site back into community use clearly outweighed the continued non-use of the site. Whilst it was not disputed that the continued non-use of the site was a bad thing, this application was the wrong proposal to address the issue. The site would not be brought back into community use because converting the football pitch to a general recreational area where organised football could no longer be played in a location that was not one the general public would go to did not fit this description. Therefore, this argument should also be dismissed and not considered in favour of the proposal.
- In conclusion:
 - 1. The proposal demonstrated neither financial or community benefits
 - 2. It did not demonstrate that it met any community need
 - 3. It went against the council's own policies
 - 4. It was very likely to open the council to the prospect of it being taken to appeal and therefore could subject the Council to risk of further unacceptable costs.
- Since there was a clear conflict of interest in the Council as landowner and as planning authority, the public had a right to assume that no Committee Member voting would play any part in whatever body or Committee was set up to administer the site as a landlord.

Member Questions to the Parish/Town Council

- 7. Councillor Carolyne Culver asked where the location of Fireman's Field was. Mr Miller indicated that it was opposite the Fire Station.
- 8. Councillor Abbs sought clarification on the difference between a community leisure facility and a recreational facility. Mr Miller indicated that he did not know exactly. He confirmed that Newbury Town Council's position was that the development was inappropriate.
- 9. Councillor Hilary Cole noted from the report that Newbury Town Council's objection was in agreement with Sport England, however, since the latter had withdrawn their objection, was there a change in the Town Council's position. Mr Miller confirmed the Town Council's objection was in line with Sport England's objection, but also with Newbury Town Council's strategy.
- 10. The Chairman asked Mr Miller to expand on the reasons as to why there was a risk of Appeal associated with this application. Mr Miller said there were controversial

element involving the permanent loss of a football pitch and on the grounds of there being no financial or community benefit and there were planning grounds for calling this application in.

11. Councillor Culver noted that the football pitch was an asset of community value (ACV), and asked if it was just the grounds that were considered of community value or whether the associated facilities also part of that asset. In addition, Councillor Culver referred to point 6.12 of the report which referenced the 'internal stripping out of services by vandals or salvage hunters' and asked who should have been looking after the site as it was considered an asset of community value. Mr Miller responded by saying both the grounds and associated facilities were covered by the ACV designation. The current asset was nominated by the Newbury Community Football Group. An application had been submitted by Newbury Town Council to renew the ACV designation. He indicated that the ACV designation gave hope of future retention of the facilities. With regard to who should have been looking after the site, he considered that the landlord was responsible.

Objector Representation

12. Mr McDougall in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- The proposal was not about the creation of an open space sports facility, but was in fact the removal of an existing grass football pitch.
- There would be no MUGA or sports pitch, no pitch markings, no goal, no toilet facility, no fencing and no booking facility. The proposal would involve removal of a grass football pitch that had been in use since 1963.
- The shortage of playing pitches across West Berkshire, which the Playing Pitch Strategy outlined, would exist for over three years, so it did not make sense to remove an existing grass football pitch from use in the centre of town. In effect, this put a ban on organised football being played on an existing facility.

13. Mr Durrant in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- He confirmed that he was the author of the letter to the Secretary of State. He said the Applicant had openly stated that their intention was to use the pitch facility on a temporary basis.
- There was a long-term development scheme in prospect which would lead to the unjustifiable loss of the ground without the provision of an equal or better facility being put in place before it was taken away.
- Whilst Sport England had withdrawn their objection, the proposal conflicted with Council policy and NPPF, and based on the available information, the replacement facility would not be available, as stated in the report, by Spring of 2022.
- There was no design in the information available, it had not been subject to a planning application or community consultation and was unlikely to happen any time soon. At best, it was considered unsuitable to demolish the existing facility and effectively take it away.
- A particular concern was in relation to the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). The Officer's report was considered to be completely wrong and misguided. The proposal was part of a very large development project, namely the redevelopment of London Road Industrial Estate (LRIE). It was part of an accumulative impact and this proposal should have been the subject of EIA, including flood risk assessment. The Officer's report was considered to be totally

defective in regard to these areas. The letter to the Secretary of State dealt with all of these issues fully and was available to Members.

- The proposal was considered to be contrary to policy. The development brief and master plan for redevelopment of LRIE did not feature in the adopted development plan nor in the emerging plan. The Applicant's Consultants had stated, when the brief was put before the Executive, that the proposal was not policy-compliant.
- In taking the application forward, with all the defects contained in the Officer's report and the consultation programme, the objectors believed that the proposal should be referred to the Secretary of State and an offer had been made for the NCFG proposed application, which was still undetermined, to also be called in so they could both be considered on an objective basis, preferably at a public enquiry.
- It was an ACV and was too good to lose.
- The letter that had been sent to the Secretary of State did not rely on Sport England's objection, but gave many reasons, in particular: the EIA; noncompliance with National Planning Policy; non-compliance with Council policy; and the fact that the Applicant in this case happened to be the Council whose objective ultimately was a major development proposal. For these reasons, he felt the matter should be looked at objectively by the Secretary of State.
- There were a number of very detailed issues that caused concern related to the use of the facility by the community group at the present time and what they were trying to achieve. This was much more in line with the Council's adopted and emerging planning policy than the proposal. It was felt that the deficiencies for screening this application properly as to whether or not it constituted EIA development was sufficient grounds for the Secretary of State to intervene. Mr Durrant respectfully asked the Committee, in the interests of transparency and fairness to the community who had been promoting the retention of this facility, to not make a final decision at this meeting.

Member Questions to the Objector

- 14. Councillor Abbs asked which policies the proposal contravened. Mr Durrant replied that the existing core strategy was being ignored, in particular the proposal was in conflict with policies CS8 and CS9. There were a number of other more detailed policies on a local area basis which related to the retention and enhancement of such facilities, for example, the Area Delivery Plan Policy for Newbury. Mr Durrant also considered that there were aspects of National Planning Policy which he believed were also not being adhered to.
- 15. Councillor Culver asked Mr McDougall what he thought the likelihood was if the application went through that the pitch would be used for 11-a-side football. Mr McDougall said he thought there was no likelihood as it was impossible to book and there would be no markings and goals on the ground and he thought the facility would predominantly be used for dog-walking.

Applicant/Agent Representation

- 16. Mr Bill Bagnell (Manager Special Projects) in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - The application proposed the demolition of the old football clubhouse, turnstiles, porta-cabin lavatory block and the temporary reopening of the old grass pitch with

new boundary treatments and appropriate signage for public use and the provision of new pay-and-display parking spaces.

- The clubhouse had been beyond economic repair since 2018 when the last tenant left, making it both a cost and health and safety liability, despite reasonable security measures. The building could not be used in any capacity again and there was no satisfactory reason to retain it at a cost to the Council.
- The application proposed the reopening of the old grass pitch for general public enjoyment, for recreational sport which, until the area was made fit for use, should remain closed.
- The proposed pay-and-display parking would be sited on existing areas of hardstanding and would provide helpful income to both support the temporary facility and income to the Council generally.
- It was very important to see the application in the wider context of the Council's well-known aspiration to develop the London Road Industrial Estate. This application was the first in a series of applications, the process of which had been subject to considerable consultation with Sport England, who had confirmed they had no objection to the proposals contained in the application.
- Mr Bagnell thanked the Committee for their time and said he hoped the application would be looked upon favourably.

Member Questions to the Applicant/Agent

- 17. Councillor Culver asked Mr Bagnell if he agreed that the facility had not been looked after. Mr Bagnell confirmed that the Council was the Landlord and was reasonably responsible for looking after assets to an appropriate level according to the condition of the asset. The clubhouse had been condition surveyed in July 2018, where immediate reoccupation required £200,000 worth of work, with an additional £100,000 required the following year and a total by year 5 of £500,000 for a building which would cost to replace new at the time in 2018 of between £900,000 and £1 million. As such, it was felt the building was not worth protecting from an asset value point of view, but it had been necessary to keep the building secure and closed to try and prevent people from breaking in and, in the process being seriously injured, possibly exposing the Council to a serious liability issue. The Council had installed 24-hour metal sheet security to keep the building closed, including metal sheet security of the roof in places where it had been broken into via the rooflights. Mr Bagnell agreed the Landlord was responsible but did not agree that it had let a valuable asset deteriorate unnecessarily, but it had been secured to prevent unauthorised access.
- 18. Councillor Abbs asked Mr Bagnell whether Sport England's withdrawal of their objection indicated their support of the demolition of the clubhouse. Mr Bagnell said Sport England were no longer objecting as they saw the application in the wider context of what was being proposed to be delivered at Monks Lane as a replacement football facility. Sport England had confidence in what was being proposed to be done elsewhere to re-provide for football and as a result they did not object to this proposal. Mr Bagnell had not seen evidence of Sport England in support of the application but had seen formal confirmation that they had no objections.
- 19. Councillor Abbs asked whether that meant Sport England's standard objections would not apply, i.e. that the sports ground must be available as a replacement sports ground. It appeared that just because they had not objected, they were certainly not in support, and he asked if that meant their standard rules did not apply.

Mr Bagnell said Sport England's current position was predicated on the basis that the Council was committed to re-providing a better facility at Monks Lane with long-term sustainability and security of tenure.

- 20. Councillor Abbs asked whether minutes of meetings and a timeline of discussions between the Council and Sport England could be shared with the Committee along with promises made in relation to the delivery of a new facility. Mr Bagnell was unable to confirm the exact timeline of discussions, but believed the Case Officer could confirm that recent correspondence between the parties was now publicly available. The Chairman concurred that the information was available in the update report that had been circulated approximately three hours prior to the meeting. Councillor Abbs considered this was an unacceptable timeframe for Members to be updated.
- 21. Councillor Barnett expressed concerns about the unevenness of and obstructions projecting from the hardstanding. He asked whether it would be asphalted or made good. Mr Bagnell said the plan was to replace considerable areas of tarmac fail with new, and areas with protruding metals would be broken out, removed and re-laid to new tarmac.
- 22. Councillor Lynne Doherty asked whether there was a public benefit for removal of the clubhouse on health and safety grounds. Mr Bagnell replied that if a rough sleeper broke into the building out of necessity of having to seek shelter and the building was then set on fire by vandals (previous incidents of arson had taken place in relation to an adjoining porta-cabin), the risk of such a scenario occurring meant that he wanted the building demolished as soon as possible.
- 23. Councillor Doherty asked whether there was a public benefit to the remaining grass pitch in terms of physical health. Mr Bagnell said whilst the area would no longer be the best facility in terms of organised football matches, which ordinarily would have an exclusive closed ground, the proposed new facility would be available to everyone. Health and wellbeing could be manifested in both taking part in recreational and sport activities or, as previously mentioned, dog-walking. As such, Mr Bagnell believed there to be a health benefit in the wider sense, the alternative being the current extremely run-down area left closed until the land was potentially needed for redevelopment.
- 24. The Chairman asked Mr Bagnell to advise on how the Applicant had sought planning advice, apart from that given by Addison Young. Mr Bagnell stated he had a certain amount of experience himself, but he also reasonably had to be guided by Planning and where policy had been fully adhered to. Mr Bagnell reiterated this was the first relevant application in a series of applications, working towards an application on the LRIE, so he had not taken advice not only in the context of this application, but in the wider context of the LRIE.
- 25. Councillor Abbs asked Mr Bagnell whether he had qualifications in health and mental health or whether he was offering a layman's opinion on the benefits of the proposal. Mr Bagnell said he believed he had been asked the question as a layman and he had answered as such.
- 26. With reference to this application being one of a series of applications, Councillor Abbs asked how this could be aligned with the EIA comment made by Mr Durrant. Mr Bagnell said the first hurdle to get over in looking at how to regenerate the LRIE was to review commercial viability. The Addison Young report gave a positive position with viability continuing to be in place. The EIA was a long and detailed iterative process which would eventually result in an environmental statement being attached

as an important document to an outline application on the LRIE as a whole. Mr Bagnell explained that the Council was at the very beginning of that environmental investigative process, some of which would be very straightforward, i.e. desktop surveys, whilst some would be more challenging, i.e. flooding, drainage and contamination. He confirmed that the Council was at the beginning of the process and would be checking the Environment Agency's levels on site.

- 27. Councillor Abbs asked when Addison Young's report around commercial viability had become available. Mr Bagnell stated that this was towards the end of November 2019. Councillor Abbs noted that this was pre-Covid and so there was a risk that it was now out of date.
- 28. It was agreed at this point not to debate any future planning or development at LRIE, as Mr Bagnell was representing the Council as the land owner and not as the Planning Authority, and the Committee may prejudice itself were it to continue. It was recognised that there was a 'Chinese Wall' between the Council as developer and planning authority.
- 29. Mrs Armour felt it would be helpful in this situation for the Planning Officer to re-state what this application was for, before entering into debate, in order to help Members focus their minds specifically on this application.
- 30. Mr Miller sought to address the Committee, but was advised that he was unable to do so and should make his point outside of the meeting.

Ward Member Representation

31. Councillor Jeff Beck in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- He had been lobbied extensively on this application.
- He had had a number of conversations with the Executive Portfolio Holder for Leisure.
- In principle, there would appear to be no reason why Newbury Community Football Group should not be able to have the use of the proposed facility.
- This would need the establishment of a working arrangement with West Berkshire Council to cover, for example, the Newbury Group bringing in portable goal posts and carrying out essential temporary pitch markings.
- The general public would be less likely to use the facility during autumn and winter periods, in particular late afternoon and evenings.
- Pitch lighting existed and there was no current proposal to either remove or utilise the lighting. If the Newbury Football Group were prepared to pay the running costs, then they should be permitted to have the use of the lighting by arrangement.
- The option to provide toilet facilities should still be considered, notwithstanding the running costs and potential for vandalism, as a much-needed facility particularly for families with small children.
- Councillor Beck was in favour of the application provided there was genuine cooperation between Newbury Community Football Group and Officers, which he felt was achievable for the benefit of all parties.

Member Questions to the Ward Member

32. Councillor Abbs asked whether Councillor Beck recalled Officers indicating the removal of the high fencing around the facilities and replacing with very low fencing

therefore making it unsuitable for use as a football ground. Councillor Beck did not consider this to be something that could not be overcome.

33. Following Mrs Armour's recommendation that the Planning Officer re-clarify the details of this specific application only, Mr Masiiwa reiterated that the application was for full planning permission for the creation of an open space for public recreation, including the demolition of the former football clubhouse and the delivery of new parking spaces, erection of timber bollards and new fencing.

Member Questions to Officers

- 34. The Chairman sought confirmation that there was nothing in the application that could prevent, in Planning terms, the Newbury Community Football Group application should it be approved from going ahead, nor was there anything to prevent the Applicant proceeding with their long chain of applications should this application be refused. Mr Masiiwa agreed that if Members approved this application, the Planning Authority could also recommend approval for Newbury Community Football Group's application. It would then be up to the landowner and Applicant to reach agreement in terms of what proposal was implemented on the site. The local planning authority would consider each application be refused, such refusal would not prevent future applications for the wider LRIE development.
- 35. Councillor Hilary Cole asked how much weight was given to new policies in the emerging plan which may have a different emphasis to current policies. Mr Masiiwa stated that the application had been considered based on the current development plan, specifically in relation to CS18 which directly influenced the proposal, and also in relation to the Council's Playing Pitch Strategy. In terms of the emerging policies, Mr Masiiwa said they had been awarded limited weight as they were not considered directly relevant to this proposal.
- 36. Councillor Culver said in relation to paragraph 6.21 of the report, her understanding was that an Officer had written a statement of intent with regard to Monks Road, and asked whether that application should be dealt with first to ensure there was a replacement pitch before proceeding with this application. Mr Masiiwa stated that Sport England's objection to the application centred on the Playing Pitch Strategy requirement that there was no development on the site prior to the replacement facility being in operation. As indicated in their comments, there was no loss of a playing field on the site, which was an important factor relating to their withdrawal of their objection, because the playing field was being retained, not being developed. It may be developed in the future, in which case its loss would be engaged.
- 37. Councillor Culver asked if another Developer's statement of intent would simply be accepted in lieu of them actually meeting policy requirements. Mr Simon Till said the Council was a responsible authority that published policy documents that formulated and set out its plans, those plans included management of the community facilities. Sport England's original comments required a public statement declaring the Council's intent to carry forward the plans for a replacement facility and they seemed to have misunderstood that the Playing Pitch Strategy was an adopted policy that carried significantly more weight than simply a statement would do in terms of delivering on the Council's objectives. In that respect the Council could be treated very differently from a private developer.
- 38. Councillor Culver referenced the e-mail sent by Sport England to Mr Masiiwa the previous day in which they asked to be notified if there was going to be a Committee. This suggested they were unaware this meeting was taking place. Mr Masiiwa

confirmed that copies of the Committee reports and updates had been sent to Sport England today and they would be notified of the outcome of this meeting.

- 39. Councillor Abbs noted that the report set out the relevant history to this application and asked for clarification on the order in which the applications were made, i.e. did 20/01966/COMIND and 20/01530/OUT both come in before this application. Mr Till advised that the numbering system did not relate to when an application was validated, which could take place at a much later date. Mr Masiiwa said that in terms of the order of applications set out in the report, the Newbury Community Football Group applications had been submitted first.
- 40. The Chairman asked about the economic benefits of this application. He noted that because this was the only part of the LRIE above the flood plain, it was designated within the master plan as the most high value element, i.e. residential, and asked if this was what the Committee should consider. Mr Masiiwa said the focus should be on this proposal's individual planning merits only. In terms of the economic aspects, the benefits were limited. There were some benefits in terms of the use of the parking provision by , workers and visitors, and the resulting income generation, but the main benefit was in terms of a recreation facility, which would provide a social benefit to the community.
- 41. Councillor Abbs asked whether any weight should be associated with the order of planning reviews and applications. Mrs Armour did not think so in this case as the application was being considered on its own merits. If one approval had already been granted on the site, there was nothing to prevent another application being approved, or equally both applications being refused. Councillor Abbs suggested that the order in which applications were being validated was the critical date and he was surprised that this was not a sequential type of process and asked whether applications should in fact be reviewed in the correct order. Mrs Armour said this was not necessary in relation to the discussion around this proposal, and did not consider that Planning Officers had deliberately delayed any applications.

Debate

- 42. Councillor Cant opened the debate. He suggested that the Committee had strayed across areas of: the process of the strategy, policy and other issues, and he felt the application deserved a platform where it could be given a proper review within the total context of the Council's strategy and policy. He therefore proposed that the debate already undertaken was noted and that the application be referred to the District Planning Committee for consideration within the broader context.
- 43. Mrs Armour confirmed this course of action was allowed and would be acceptable within the Constitution. The Chairman noted that it would be referred due to its importance to the Applicant's strategy.
- 44. Councillor Abbs expressed support for the proposal as long as the application was then reviewed within a wider context rather than standing alone. He seconded Councillor Cant's proposal.
- 45. Councillor Culver said she did not think the proposal to refer the matter to the District Planning Committee should preclude the Committee from discussing the item this evening, as if the decision was taken to refuse the application it could be referred to the District Committee anyway. She added that as Members had discussed the application in such detail already, they should take the opportunity to vote.
- 46. The Chairman indicated that several Members of the Western Area Committee had disclosed an interest and may therefore not feel able to vote, whereas at District level, the Committee would not have any Executive Members, nor any Newbury

Town Council Members, which may be helpful in terms of public perception of the transparency of the decision.

47. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by Councillor Cant seconded by Councillor Abbs to refer the matter to the District Committee to make the decision. At the vote the motion was carried.

RESOLVED that the application be referred to District Planning Committee for consideration.

(2) Application No. and Parish: 21/00429/HOUSE, White Lodge, Donnington Grove, Shaw Cum Donnington

(Councillor Lynne Doherty declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(2) by virtue of the fact that she was a ward member for this application. As her interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, she determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

- 48. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(2)) concerning Planning Application 21/00429/HOUSE in respect of White Lodge, Donnington Grove, Shawcum Donnington. Approval was sought for a two storey rear extension and external alterations to existing dwelling, following demolition of existing outbuildings (resubmission of application 20/01193/HOUSE).
- 49. Mr Simon Till, Team Leader (Western Area Planning) introduced the report to Members, which took account of all the relevant policy considerations and other material planning considerations. In conclusion, the report detailed that the proposal was unsatisfactory in planning terms and officers recommended that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to refuse planning permission for the reasons listed in the main and update reports.
- 50. The Chairman asked Mr Paul Goddard, Team Leader (Highways Development Control), if he had any observations relating to the application. Mr Goddard confirmed that Highways Officers had no objections access and car parking were not affected and a proposed gate would replace one that was already there.
- 51. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, Mr Callan Powers, agent, and Mr Simon Baynham, applicant, addressed the Committee on this application.

Applicant/Agent Representation

52. Mr Powers in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- This application sought planning permission for a two storey extension to an existing house.
- Policy C6 of the Housing Site Allocations DPD set out a presumption in favour of extensions to existing houses in the countryside.
- Since the site was last before the Committee, the footprint, width and height of the proposed extension had all been reduced.
- The appearance and architectural features of the proposal had also been changed with a more domestic appearance proposed than last time.
- The revisions had significantly improved the appearance of the extension and a further drop in ridge height of the roof demonstrated the subservience of the proposed extension.

- The proposal followed an earlier approved scheme for a two storey rear extension in which the ridge line of the extended roof matched the existing house, that scheme had an floor space area of about an additional 104sqm measured externally.
- The current scheme where the roof ridge dropped below that of the main house extended to 166sqm externally, but factoring in the removal of some small outbuildings offset quite a bit of that increase.
- Whilst previous approval had lapsed, nothing had changed in terms of the policy position or local circumstances since that approval.
- The proposal was subservient to the main house and the visibility of the extension from the park would be limited.
- The extension's visibility from the rest of the Conservation Area would be very limited just affecting the public right of way to the east of the house where there would be a lesser impact compared to the previously approved extension.

53. Mr Baynham in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- He thanked the Committee for visiting the site.
- He had bought the property with his wife 3½ years ago, at which time planning consent for an extension had just been granted.
- He had a number of concerns about the consented scheme; the eastern wall of the extension would have destroyed the hedge along the footpath for about 10 metres. This was a privacy issue as well as a planning and environmental issue. At the planning meeting last summer, the hedge seemed quite important to most of the Committee. If the extension was set back from the hedge, it would not only preserve the hedge but would also make the extension less prominent and therefore appear more subservient compared to the previous consented scheme.
- The second issue with the consented scheme was that it created a dark space where it connected by providing an entrance or link with no habitable rooms in the link. This proposal resolved that problem as well as protecting the hedge but would require a slightly bigger footprint to achieve the same amount of habitable space.
- In last year's proposal he had wanted to further distinguish between the old and the new by having a step up. In the new proposal, he had removed the step which meant that the height of the proposed extension was now lower than the existing house and, importantly, lower than the previously consented scheme. This also made the extension less prominent and therefore more subservient than the consented scheme.
- He had listened to the previous concerns of the Committee and had tried to address as many as possible and he had also wanted to try and overcome the problems with the consented scheme.
- The proposal now created a better, less prominent, four bedroom house than the five bedroom consented scheme. The improved amenity would not just be better for the current owners but also for future generations.
- The house sat on a 1.2 acre plot and therefore the proposal and extension which were largely hidden from public view could not be considered as overdevelopment. The proposed extension was almost invisible from any public

footpath other than the one from the west and from this point, the extension would sit against the silhouette of the house.

• There had been no objections to the proposal and it would provide a much better configured and usable house and a better amenity in terms of sunlight and daylight.

Member Questions to the Applicant/Agent

54. Councillor Carolyne Culver asked how this application compared to the approved planning application in 2017 in terms of square footage and the length of the extension. Mr Powers replied that he was unable to give exact figures in terms of how far it came out, but the previously consented scheme ran in line with the site walls. This application did nudge out to one side although some of that was offset by it being inset on the other side. The external floor space of the 2017 scheme had been an additional 104sqm with the current scheme extending to 166sqm measured externally before taking into account the removal of outbuildings.

Ward Member Representation

55. Councillor Lynne Doherty in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- She had called this application in last summer and following its refusal she was pleased to note the Applicant had responded to the concerns raised regarding the size and design of the new proposal.
- She was disappointed therefore that the Conservation Officer had continued to object as planning permission had been previously granted in this conservation area back in 2017 when it had been considered acceptable to put a two-storey extension into this area.
- When Officers referred to the character as being altered, there had already been an agreement in place to alter that character from the 2017 application.
- She felt that the Applicant had made every attempt to preserve the original lodge frontage which was what most people would see when coming down the Lane as far as they were allowed to do so, given that it was actually private property.
- The rear of the property was very hidden, which was evident from the site visit.
- Based on the plans submitted by Natural England, the proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact on the statutory protected nature of the conservation sites or landscapes.
- The property was well screened both from Donnington Grove Park and from any near neighbours in Donnington Village. As a regular user of the park and its footpaths, Councillor Doherty assured Members that White Lodge was not visible at any time of the year. As an additional measure, the Applicant intended to preserve the fence and hedge to the rear of the property.
- No objections had been received from the Parish Council or from any nearby residents.
- Councillor Doherty disagreed with the Conservation Officer's description of the approach to the property from Donnington Village. The first and only thing you would see when arriving to the white gate in the Village was the property itself. The extension would not be visible from this private approach and she did not support the conclusion that from this approach the proposal would detract from the primary of the existing building's original purpose as a modest gatehouse set within spacious grounds.

- The Conservation Officer continued to be concerned that the scale of the extension was not subservient to the original dwelling, but Councillor Doherty felt the staggered design enabled the existing dwelling to remain the focal point of the overall design.
- The new scheme was lower than the consented scheme and when sat within 1.2 acres of private garden would not look large.
- The application had been due to be heard in June 2021, but was postponed due to waiting for an additional consultation but even while objecting, the additional consultee, Berkshire Gardens Trust felt it should be noted, that in their view, the harm done by the proposed development was mitigated somewhat because there was no longer an entrance to the Grade II Registered Park and Garden from the east. The land belonging to White Lodge effectively blocked this former entrance and therefore its link to its former role as a modest gate lodge had already partially been severed to some extent.
- A reason for refusal was because it sat within a sensitive area, yet within the same area, Donnington Grove Country Club had received permission for extensive works including a white new PVC glazed conservatory and a barn at the top of the park had also been built and developed over that period of time.

Member Questions to the Ward Member

56. Members did not have any questions for the Ward Member.

Member Questions to Officers

57. Councillor Adrian Abbs sought clarification that the 2017 application had lapsed. Mr Till confirmed that it had.

Debate

- 58. Councillor Hilary Cole opened the debate by stating that when the original application was refused by this Committee, she had voted for the refusal because she was a firm believer in planning policy being there for a specific reason. However, she had not at that time undertaken a site visit. For this application, she had made a site visit and had subsequently changed her mind completely. She indicated her high regard for Conservation Officers, but felt the building was already compromised as there was a very unsightly flat roof extension onto the original building and she considered that the proposed works would be an improvement. The extension would not be seen, since it was to the back of the property. She considered that the historic park and garden was already compromised by the golf course. She did not class the property as being located in the countryside because it sat adjacent to Donnington Village, only separated by a public footpath. In conclusion, whilst she was a great defender and proponent of Council policies, in this case, she proposed to make an exception and refuse Officer recommendation and vote in favour of the application.
- 59. Councillor Abbs indicated that he was minded to take Officer's advice and was not in a position to agree to Councillor Hilary Cole's proposal to approve the application. With regard to the 2017 approved application which had since lapsed, he felt this was now irrelevant. He appreciated that the owners had sought to address some of the concerns with the last proposal, but he considered the proposed increase in floor space from 104sqm to 166sqm was a huge increase. He also expressed concerns that the extension may be visible at some point in the future if trees were felled.
- 60. Councillor Lynne Doherty seconded the motion to approve the application as proposed by Councillor Hilary Cole.

- 61. The Chairman asked Mr Till what conditions would be needed to support their proposal to approve the application. The conditions were agreed as set out below.
- 62. Mrs Armour asked for clarification on the reasons for voting against Officer recommendations. These were agreed as shown below.
- 63. Councillor Phil Barnett indicated that he had been in support of the previous application and the only concern he had was the type of trees and leaves and the building not being obscured. He confirmed that he would support the proposal.
- 64. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by Councillor Hilary Cole, seconded by Councillor Lynne Doherty to grant planning permission subject to the proposed conditions. At the vote the motion was carried.

RESOLVED that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

1. Commencement of development:

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from the date of this decision.

<u>Reason</u>: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2. Approved plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans/documents:

MFwhitelodELG (Existing Elevations - Garage), received on 22/02/2021

MFwhitelodELH (Existing Elevations - House), received on 22/02/2021

171022-102 Rev A, (Proposed Plans and Elevations), received on 22/02/2021

MFwhitelodFFH (Existing First floor Plan), received on 22/02/2021

171022-101 (Location and Site Plan), received on 22/02/2021

MFwhitelodgeTOPO (Topographical Survey), received on 22/02/2021

MFwhitelodRPG (Existing Roof Plan), received on 22/02/2021

MFwhitelodRPH (Existing Roof Plan - House), received on 22/02/2021

<u>Reason</u>: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

3. Schedule of materials

No above ground development shall commence until a schedule of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Samples of materials shall be made available upon request. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure that the external materials respect the character and appearance of the area. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Supplementary Planning Guidance 04/2 House Extensions (July 2004), and Supplementary Planning Document Quality Design (June 2006). A pre-commencement condition is required because the approved materials will be used throughout construction.

4. Parking

The extension shall not be first occupied until vehicle parking has been laid out in accordance with the approved plans (including any surfacing arrangements and marking out). Thereafter the parking shall be kept available for parking of private cars at all times.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure the development is provided with adequate parking facilities, in order to reduce the likelihood of roadside parking that would adversely affect road safety and the flow of traffic. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policy P1 of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 2006-2026.

5. Electric vehicle charging points

The extension shall not be occupied until an electric vehicle charging point has been provided for the dwelling in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the charging point shall be maintained, and kept available and operational for electric vehicles at all times.

<u>Reason</u>: To secure the provision of charging points to encourage the use of electric vehicles. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policy P1 of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 2006-2026.

6. Permitted development restriction

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order with or without modification), no extensions, alterations, buildings or other development which would otherwise be permitted by Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C and E of that Order shall be carried out, without planning permission being granted by the Local Planning Authority on an application made for that purpose.

<u>Reason</u>: To prevent the overdevelopment of the site and in the interests of respecting the character and appearance of the surrounding area. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), and the Quality Design SPD (June 2006).

7. Construction method statement

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the demolition and construction works shall incorporate and be undertaken in accordance with the approved CMS. The CMS shall include measures for:

- a) A site set-up plan during the works;
- b) Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
- c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
- d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
- e) Temporary access arrangements to the site, and any temporary hard-standing;
- f) Wheel washing facilities;
- g) Measures to control dust, dirt, noise, vibrations, odours, surface water run-off, and pests/vermin during construction;
- h) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;
- i) Hours of construction and demolition work;
- j) Hours of deliveries and preferred haulage routes

<u>Reason</u>: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining land uses and occupiers, and in the interests of highway safety. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS13 and CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policies OVS.5, OVS.6 and TRANS.1 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). A pre-commencement condition is required because the CMS must be adhered to during all demolition and construction operations.

8. Tree protection

No development (including site clearance and any other preparatory works) shall commence on site until a scheme for the protection of trees to be retained is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include a plan showing the location of the protective fencing, and shall specify the type of protective fencing. The protective fencing should be as specified at Chapter 6 and detailed in figure 2 of B.S.5837:2012. All such fencing shall be erected prior to any development works taking place and at least 2 working days notice shall be given to the Local Planning Authority that it has been erected. It shall be maintained and retained for the full duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. No activities or storage of materials whatsoever shall take place within the protected areas without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.

<u>Reason</u>: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the retention of existing trees and natural features during the construction phase in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policies CS14, CS18 and CS19 of West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-commencement condition is necessary because insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; tree protection installation measures may be required to be undertaken throughout the construction phase and so it is necessary to approve these details before any development takes place.

9. Soft landscaping

The extensions shall not be first occupied until a detailed soft landscaping scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The soft landscaping scheme shall include detailed plans, planting and retention schedule, programme of works, and any other supporting information. All soft landscaping works shall be completed in accordance with the approved soft landscaping scheme within the first planting season following completion of building operations. Any trees, shrubs, plants or hedges planted in accordance with the approved scheme which are removed, die, or become diseased or become seriously damaged within five years of completion of this completion of the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees, shrubs or hedges of a similar size and species to that originally approved.

<u>Reason</u>: Landscaping is an integral element of achieving high quality design. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), and the Quality Design SPD.

10. .Ancillary use

The building hereby permitted shall not be used at any time other than for purposes ancillary and/or incidental to the residential use of the dwelling known as White Lodge, Donnington Grove.

<u>Reason:</u> To limit the future use of the building to prevent uses which would not be ancillary or incidental to the main dwelling. This condition is applied in the interests of preventing a change of use which would result in an unsustainable pattern of

development, and detract from neighbouring and local amenity. This condition is applied in accordance with Policies ADPP1, ADPP5, CS1, CS13, CS14, CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, Policies C1, C3 and C6 of the Housing Site Allocations DPD 2006-2026, WBC Quality Design SPD (2006), and WBC House Extensions SPG (2004).

(3) Application No. and Parish: 21/01038/HOUSE, 1 Croft Road, Newbury, Newbury Wash Common

(Councillor Adrian Abbs declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(3) by virtue of the fact that he was a ward members for this application. As his interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillor Phil Barnett declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(3) by virtue of the fact that he was a Member of Newbury Town Council's Planning and Highways Committee where this matter had been discussed. As his interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillor Tony Vickers declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(3) by virtue of the fact that he was a ward members for this application, and he was also a Member of Newbury Town Council's Planning and Highways Committee where this matter had been discussed. As his interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillors Tony Vickers and Howard Woollaston declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(3).)

- 65. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(3)) concerning Planning Application 21/01038/HOUSE in respect of 1 Croft Road, Newbury. Approval was sought for a two storey extension to the side and single storey extension to the rear.
- 66. The Chairman stated that he had been unable to attend the site visits, and a Principal Planning Officer had not been present either. He suggested that the application needed to be viewed from the neighbouring properties; and proposed deferring debate until there was a chance for Members to do so. He indicated that he had told one of the neighbours that this would be allowed, as he had thought that Covid restrictions had lapsed when they had not. The Chairman felt it would be unfair to the neighbours to move to a debate when less than half of Members had visited the site.
- 67. Mrs Sharon Armour stated that the Committee must follow the procedure set out in the Constitution. She noted that the Applicant's Agent was present at the meeting and was entitled to speak to the item.
- 68. The Committee discussed whether it was normal procedure for it to be necessary for the property to be viewed from neighbouring gardens. The Chairman confirmed that this had indeed been the case in previous applications, subject to permission being obtained from the neighbours. Councillor Howard Woollaston indicated that he had viewed the property from a neighbouring property and considered it important that the other members of the Committee do the same.
- 69. Councillor Hilary Cole felt the proceedings may be one-sided in the absence of objectors. The Chairman indicated that there were two objectors, one of whom could not make the meeting, but the other was joining via Zoom.

- 70. Mrs Armour indicated that the Committee should not debate a motion to defer the application without having heard all relevant information. Therefore, it was agreed to proceed with the item as planned.
- 71. Mr Masie Masiiwa, Senior Planning Officer, introduced the report to Members, which took account of all the relevant policy considerations and other material planning considerations. In conclusion the report detailed that the proposal was acceptable in planning terms and officers recommended that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the conditions outlined in the main and update reports.
- 72. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, Mr Graham Coldman, objector, and Ms Sophie Martin, agent, addressed the Committee on this application.

Objector Representation

73. Mr Coldman in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- The objection to the application was based upon his reading of the Council's own SPG document. The development was not proposed in order to meet any future needs of the family at 1 Croft Road.
- Among the key principles of the SPG were the effects on neighbours. He believed this application would have a substantial effect, in terms of overshadowing which the SPG said should be avoided.
- The SPG quoted a 60° rule with regard to ground floor extensions and a 45° rule with regard to first floor extensions.
- No documentation had been submitted which showed either the ground floor of building at the rear nor the mono-pitch roof extension met this requirement.
- With regard to privacy, the SPG stated that the rule of thumb was 21m between facing windows and that reasonable privacy should be secured by careful design were that not possible. The property boundary was 13m from the ground floors of both Mr Coldman's property (39 Wendan Road) and 37 Wendan Road.
- The SPG stated that any variance in the ground levels to neighbouring properties should be considered. The difference in ground level, as mentioned in the report, was estimated at about 1.25 metres from 39 Wendan Road to that of 1 Croft Road.
- Paragraph 6.5 of the report stated that the sense of spaciousness currently enjoyed (at 37 Wendan Road) would not be widely affected as a result of this extension. 37 Wendan Road currently had a boundary of a 2 metre high wooden panel fence which would be replaced by 5 metres of brick wall with an overhanging roof of undetermined dimensions.
- Paragraph 6.7 of the report mentioned the large expanse of glazing and that a variety of styles was common in the area, however, most of this glazing was facing east and west towards and could be considered a significant intrusion, particularly in relation to light pollution if not overlooking, and particularly on the first floor mono pitch roof where the glazing would let any lighting, whether LED or not, show into the first floor windows of 3 Croft Road.
- Paragraph 6.8 of the report mentioned only a small section of the mono-pitched roof reaching the same height as the first floor window of 1 Croft Road. It was difficult to ascertain exactly how high this was from the plans because it was difficult to work out from the dimensions which were not given. The Planning

Officer had said this would extend a good distance to the rear, but had not said how far - it was assumed to be between 6 and 7 metres. The Planning Officer said this would not dominate the rear elevation to an unacceptable extent. It was suggested the Committee view the 3D model to determine whether 36sqm of tile roofing reaching into the boundary was not an overbearing aspect of the design.

- Paragraph 6.9 of the report stated that a fence height of 2.5 metres was only 0.5 taller than what could be constructed under permitted development, but queried why a 2.5 metre fence was required in a domestic setting.
- In paragraph 6.11, the Planning Officer referred to loss of light to 3 Croft Road supporting this with the daylight and sunlight report which, with reference to 39 Wendan Road, was incorrect because it did not include their ground floor extension. Neither did it include the overhang of the mono-pitch roof. Mr Coldman queried why this report was considered definitive over SPG recommendations.
- Paragraphs 6.12 and 6.6 referred to the glazed openings to the east and west with only a small section which was above the fence. Mr Coldman queried why any part had to be above the fence and could it not be stipulated that the entire glazed openings had to be below the level of the fence.
- Mr Coldman concluded that it had been very difficult to ascertain the exact dimensions of the extension from the plans and he did not feel he had received fair access to the information flow from the Planning Officers.

Member Questions to the Objector

74. The Chairman asked Mr Coldman if he would appreciate Members attending the site to assess the issues he had raised, in particular the size and position of the extension. Mr Coldman replied that he felt it would be helpful for Members to see the proposed scheme from his property's lower level and from the adjacent property at 3 Croft Road.

Applicant/Agent Representation

75. Ms Martin in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- The submitted drawings had been checked by the Planning Officers and were found to be scaled correctly and were accurate so measurements could be scaled directly.
- The current application had been drastically altered from the previous application as a result of the Applicant's careful consideration to the neighbour's concerns.
- The balcony element, fourth bedroom and third-story element had all been removed in their entirety and the ground floor development had been remodelled to the rear in accordance with permitted development guidelines and massing moved away from the boundaries of 3 Croft Road and 37 Wendan Road.
- Croft Road was an established residential area with presumption in favour of residential development and the proposed side extension mirrored a similar extension at 3 Croft Road.
- As 1 and 3 Croft Road were a semi-detached pair, it could be argued that the existing two-storey side extension to number 3 unbalanced the appearance of the properties from the principle elevation and the proposed side extension sought to rectify this imbalance.
- The rear façade was contemporary with a modern palette of materials and offwhite render.

- The new flat roof would be covered with sedums blending seamlessly into the garden landscape and the visual impact to the ground floor extension would be minimised by the natural slope of the long garden.
- As the SPG stated, with the complementary styles matching existing, it could be argued carefully selected high quality and sympathetic materials to the rear fulfilled the guidance to reflect and add to the appearance of the building.
- The overhanging roof and the guttering detail proposed to the side extension mirrored an existing development already carried out at 3 Croft Road and the Planning Officer had no concern with the overhang of the guttering in this respect.
- As per the SPG, by carefully matching the principal façade, size, style and proportion of windows, colours, tones and textures of existing materials, details and also replicating the bonding of new brickwork to the principal elevation and matching the mortar type ensured that the new brickwork would blend in with the old and show that the utmost was being done to protect the character of the property and the local area from the principal elevation.
- The proposal did not adversely impact on the living conditions of the neighbours as outlined in the independent report commissioned and undertaken by Mr Charles McMahon with right of light consultants who concluded that the numerical results of the study demonstrated that the proposed development would have a low impact on the light receivable by its neighbouring properties (3 Croft Road and 37 and 39 Wendan Road) and in their opinion, the proposed development sufficiently safeguarded the daylight and sunlight amenity of the neighbouring properties.
- The overlooking was immaterial in this case as the windows were over 3 metres off the ground.
- The idea of light pollution was normally brought about in cases where there might be floodlighting, for example a football pitch, which was not applicable in this case.
- The Highways Department report of 20/05/21 stated that they had no comment with regard to the application at 1 Croft Road. Even with the proposed extension to the side of the property, the front drive would remain in excess of 6x9 meters, exceeding the recommended dimensions for 3 parking spaces for a 3 bedroom house in zone 1.
- The Applicants had done their utmost to reflect the local character and add to the appearance of the building whilst making changes to support Mrs Redford and enhance hers and consequently the whole family's quality of life as she is a disabled person.
- The Applicants had carefully considered their neighbours and had made farreaching and significant alterations to previous applications and had demonstrated understanding and consideration of local concerns. They had also acted to safeguard the character of the principal elevation of their property and to enhance it sympathetically to the rear.
- The Applicants had gone above and beyond to commission a daylight and sunlight report to ensure that the proposals did not adversely affect the impact of the living conditions of the neighbours at considerable financial cost to themselves.

- The Applicants had also ensured compliance in terms of parking guidelines to the satisfaction of the Highways department.
- The Planning Officer was happy to recommend approval.

Member Questions to the Applicant/Agent

- 76. Councillor Abbs asked how the extension at 3 Croft Road was similar to the proposed extension at 1 Croft Road. Ms Martin indicated that they were similar in that they were both two-storey side elevations. They were similar in principle. The side elevations on both properties were similar and there was also an existing rear development to 3 Croft Road. She suggested that the rear elevations were similar in terms of floor space, but not in character.
- 77. Councillor Abbs noted that a great deal of emphasis had been placed on the light report, but the previous speaker had suggested that the report contained incorrect assumptions so asked it would be risky for Members to assume the report was correct if it did contain errors. Ms Martin confirmed the report had been produced by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors, independent right of light assessment, and it could be relied upon as an accurate assessment.
- 78. The Chairman noted from the block plan it appeared that the proposed extension was significantly further out from the building line into the garden than the extension at 3 Croft Road and queried the assertion that both developments were of similar size. Ms Martin stated that they were similar in size insofar as a sizeable rear extension had already been completed at 3 Croft Road, but she was not asserting they were similar numerically, as she had not been to 3 Croft Road to undertake a survey or take measurements of the extension. There was already a garage in place at 1 Croft Road and the extent of the proposal came out to the end of that garage space.
- 79. The Chairman observed if that was the case then the block plan was showing a distinctly larger extension than that at 3 Croft Road. Ms Martin clarified that she had not said the extensions were of identical size, but that they were of similar size.
- 80. Councillor Doherty referred to the three large windows on the proposed west elevation and asked whether they would be above the fence line. Ms Martin did not believe the windows would be above the fence line.

Ward Member Representation

81. Councillor Abbs in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- The effect on residents surrounding the proposed extension had not been correctly presented and a visit specifically to the direct neighbour was essential to fully understand what would result if the application was approved.
- Those that had undertaken a site visit at the request of the neighbour would understand their concerns.
- As Acting Chairman of the day, he had asked the Officer whether anybody had been invited in to see the neighbour's perspective and was told that no arrangements had been made to do so. However, within 30 minutes of the visit, the neighbour had contacted Ward Members to find out what had happened.
- Councillor Abbs asked Members to refer to the proposed section BB / East elevation and the existing and proposed block plan on the West Berkshire planning portal, which clearly showed an approximate doubling in the length of the whole house, with over 80% of the additional length taken to a height close to

the guttering of the existing property. Far from being a single-storey extension, it was not far off being a two-storey extension.

- Almost all of the drawings submitted for the application were hand drawn and contained few, if any measurements, but rather a scale to work from. Although Officers were confident in their calculations, the Committee had considered previous applications where measurements had made a significant difference to thinking, and Members were therefore urged to use caution when assuming these numbers or dimensions were correct, particularly given the objector's comments expressing doubt about the light report.
- The plans submitted did not correctly identify the extent of the site or boundary positions, which were major issues.
- The over-sailing eaves extended the width and projection of the extension adding to the shading and loss of daylight to the attached neighbour. The daylight and sunlight report appeared to be based on the line of the walls rather than the roof casting serious doubt on the report.
- It had been made clear from several residents that they were not opposed to an
 extension in principle, it was merely the specific size and layout of the proposed
 extension that had caused concern. Councillor Abbs indicated that he was
 sympathetic to this concern and urged the Applicant to modify the proposal to
 further alleviate the concerns raised.
- Given the lack of clarity on this issue, it appeared unsafe for Members to approve this application at this stage.
- Councillor Abbs urged Members to refuse the application on the grounds of loss of amenity, uncertainty around measurements and non-compliance with the SPG.
- 82. The Chairman, speaking as ward member made the following points:
 - The application was finely balanced and that there had not been good communication between the Applicant and their neighbours.
 - There was concern that at least one of the neighbours had engaged with professional planning advice, but unfortunately on the date of the meeting, the Planning Consultant was on holiday and the Applicant was not available to attend the meeting.
 - In the interest of fairness, so that both sides could have the right to attend and have their case heard and for Members to be able to see the proposal from the site and from the property of the immediate neighbour, he felt that the matter should be deferred.

Member Questions to the Ward Members

83. There were no questions for the ward members

Member Questions to Officers

84. Members did not have any questions for officers.

Debate

- 85. Councillor Abbs asked if Members could move to defer the item at this point.
- 86. Mrs Armour stated it was up to the Committee to decide to defer if they did not have sufficient information to make a decision.

- 87. Councillor Woollaston opened the debate and proposed that the application be deferred as there were questions over the height of the building, some of the dimensions required clarification and more information was required from a physical site visit. The proposal was seconded by Councillor Abbs.
- 88. Mr Till stated that in relation to the matter of procedure of Committee site visits, members of the public had not been invited to participate due to Covid-19 regulations, so there was nothing untoward in this. He also made the more general point that there was no procedural requirement for the Committee to make site visits to a neighbouring property. Officers accepted that it may be of benefit, but in the majority of cases Members were expected to make a decision based on what was visible within the site and public views. He conceded that there may be cases where an exception could be made and this case may be one of them, but as a general principle a visit to a neighbouring property did not form part of Committee procedure. The Chairman agreed with Mr Till.
- 89. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by Councillor Woollaston, seconded by Councillor Abbs to defer consideration of the proposal. At the vote the motion was carried.

RESOLVED that consideration of the application be deferred.

Continuation of meeting

90. In accordance with the Council's Constitution point 7.13.5, the Committee supported Councillor Hilary Cole's motion that the remaining business could be concluded by 10.30pm, and therefore continued with Agenda Item 4(4).

(4) Application No. and Parish: 21/01012/FUL, Kintbury Methodist Church, Inkpen Road, Kintbury

- 91. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(4)) concerning Planning Application 21/01012/FUL in respect of Kintbury Methodist Church, Inkpen Road, Kintbury, Hungerford, RG17 9TU. Approval was sought for Change of Use from redundant Methodist Church to residential dwelling (Use Class C3). Proposals will retain the front elevation onto Inkpen Road unchanged, with the introduction of patio doors to the rear elevation in the location of the existing kitchen window. Internally, the works will involve the creation of a living, kitchen dining area, separate living room, 2no. bedrooms and bathroom.
- 92. Mr Simon Till, Team Leader (Western Area Planning), introduced the report to Members, which took account of all the relevant policy considerations and other material planning considerations. In conclusion the report detailed that the proposal was unsatisfactory in planning terms and officers recommended that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to refuse planning permission for the reasons listed in the main and update reports.
- 93. The Chairman asked Mr Paul Goddard, Team Leader (Highways Development Control), if he had any observations relating to the application. Mr Goddard confirmed that he had no further comments beyond those made in Mr Till's presentation.
- 94. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, Mr Tim Cork, applicant, addressed the Committee on this application.

Applicant Representation

95. Mr Cork, in addressing the Committee, raised the following points:

- The Officer's report contained inaccuracies which he had previously highlighted, but which had not corrected in the report.
- His son and his son's partner, who had lived in the area all her life, intended to make the building their home.
- They were very enthusiastic about saving the building by creating a home in the village.
- Planning policy P1 was aimed at 'new development' and did not cater for a Change of Use application for an existing building.
- The Committee report argued that under policy P1 the proposal required two parking spaces, which could only be found on the street. This was not entirely accurate and missed the important point that it did not adequately explain the context.
- By granting approval to the application, the current D1 Use Class which the building currently enjoyed would be extinguished forever. This currently permitted the building to be used as a place of worship, a teaching establishment, a crèche, day nursery and clinic amongst other uses. All of these uses would have significantly greater car parking and associated traffic movements than the two car parking spaces needed by the change of use to a residential dwelling. The application would result in a net reduction in the current parking demand, not an increase.
- As part of the application, a parking survey was undertaken in Inkpen Road, Church Road, Station Road and High Street. These areas were visited and photographed at various times of the day, including 10.30pm, during the week and weekend. Photographic evidence showed that at all times visited, two car parking spaces were available within a short walk of the site.
- In terms of amenity space, the Committee report stated that under the SPG the building should have 70sqm for a two bedroom house. Mr Cork suggested this policy should only related to new development and was not appropriate for a Change of Use.
- The proposal had just under 30sqm amenity space and not 15sqm as stated in the report.
- To the rear, the orientation enjoyed really good sunshine and a high level of privacy and the area would provide for a garden shed, outdoor seating and eating area, a bench and plenty of planting. This level of provision would be considered generous for a flat.
- There would be no loss to privacy, as the proposal retained the existing obscured glazed windows to the side looking into the garden.
- The roof lights would be placed higher up the roof pitch to avoid any overlooking.
- One of the most environmentally sustainable approaches to creating a new home
 was to refurbish an existing building. This was an existing building so carbon
 generated in the manufacture of the building materials and construction of the
 building had already taken place. Therefore there was a large element of
 embedded carbon already in the existing building. This meant that the harmful
 greenhouse gases in the refurbishment process would be significantly lower than
 for a new build alternative.

- Modern standards of insulation would be sought for the roof and external walls and high performance windows, roof lights and doors would be installed to significantly improve the thermal insulation of the property.
- The intention was to remove the existing oil-fired boiler and tank. An ultra-high efficiency electric boiler system was being investigated which performed at 99.8% efficiency and would be linked to a green energy tariff.
- These installations would be intended to give the building a new lease of life as a modest home performing to high sustainability standards.
- By granting approval to this application the current vacant building would become a home for a young couple with strong, local links. The future of the building, which was in a state of disrepair, would be saved, and as a home would be loved again to be maintained now and into the future.
- The proposal represented an excellent opportunity to create a new home in the centre of the Village which, as a refurbishment, would have excellent ecological credentials.
- Removal if the D1 Use classification of the existing building would result in the permanent decrease in real terms of the parking and traffic demands that the building currently generated. Approval of the application would be the right thing for the building and the village.

Member Questions to the Applicant/Agent

- 96. In relation to the removal of D1 Use classification, Councillor Garth Simpson asked how long the building had not been in use. Mr. Cork indicated that it had been approximately 2 years and that towards the end of its use as a church, the congregation reduced to only 6 people, which had led to the building becoming vacant.
- 97. Councillor Howard Woollaston asked what errors had been made in the Planning report. The Chairman requested this was not answered as Mr Cork had referred to the inaccuracies before his allotted representation time.

Ward Member Representation

98. Councillor James Cole in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- The application had been called in on the basis that the parking question had not been adequately dealt with. It had not been called in against any re-use of the building.
- Most of the objections related to parking and the Ward Members had met with the Applicant outside of the building. Following this meeting, they had agreed that the call in should become one that was irrespective of Officer's decision, so the decision could be made in public.
- It was also a matter of policy. The Planning Officer objected to the amenity space which, whilst a bit more than originally thought, was still small. If the proposal were for a two or three bedroom flat, there would be less concern around amenity space. He accepted that it could not be enlarged without knocking part of the building down. The Policy was 'one-size fits all' and did not fit in the particular circumstances of this building.
- From the point of view of parking, there were photographs on the website and the site visit demonstrated the parking situation, which was why he had attempted to get a parking scheme for Kintbury in previous years and may have to try again.

- The Council could hope that some other non-residential use could be found, but as the Applicant had already indicated, if the building became bookable for small meetings, it would revert to its old usage. It did vary from nothing to many cars parking whenever the incumbents had a coffee morning to raise funds.
- The parking issue as seen at the site visit could become an everyday issue so contrary to objectors' concerns, the option of change to residential use may actually be better. As Heritage Champ, he had to consider the heritage aspect and felt that what was proposed was a sympathetic conversion that did not harm the Conservation Area whereas harm would be done if the building was allowed to rot.
- The proposal appeared to be very sustainable taking the existing building, insulate it to make it acceptable in heating plans without using masses of new concrete, brick and stone and heat it with electricity. There was not really the space for air or ground source heating but the building would be one where, later in its life, solar slates could make sense. The impression from the Planning Officer had been that policy issues were borderline and he felt the Committee should make a practical decision.

99. Councillor Rowles in addressing the Committee raised the following points:

- She agreed with the points made by Councillor James Cole.
- She considered it right that it came to committee and welcomed the Committee's views on the current D1 usage versus residential usage.
- She also urged Members to ask Officers about the discrepancies in the planning report to which the Applicant had referred.

Member Questions to the Ward Member

- 100. Councillor Carolyne Culver asked whether there was any potential for the building to be used by the community. Councillor James Cole indicated that the building had been derelict for two years and the community was already well served by other buildings in terms of providing space for meetings and activities. The Coronation Hall was quite large and there was another building nearby which also provided community space as well as Kintbury Church which had a parish hall. As such, the vendor had not found a buyer for the building for such a purpose, and whilst that might change in the future if the building reverted to community use it was likely to be at least in part commercial, which would mean extra traffic. Councillor James Cole had advised the Applicant that if a parking scheme was introduced he could expect there to be double yellow lines outside of the building, but the Applicant had not been deterred by this.
- 101. Councillor Adrian Abbs questioned whether when the building had been in use as a Church, the associated parking problems been confined to a Sunday? He suggested that residential issues would be confined to evenings. Councillor Rowles indicated that residential properties may have deliveries. Regarding the existing use, she gave the example of Kintbury Church, which was active on all days of the week, with coffee mornings and other community activities outside of Sunday services. She indicated that this building could revert to a place of worship or it could potentially become more commercial, and attract more cars and traffic.
- 102. Councillor Abbs suggested that if the application were approved, there would be some certainty around traffic and parking issues, but outcomes were less certain if it were refused. He asked if the Ward Members supported the application. Councillor Rowles acknowledged that it was a difficult decision due to the parking issues in the area and she welcomed the views of the Committee. Councillor James Cole

indicated that he had called in the application on the basis of parking. A parking scheme had been developed previously, which would have banned parking outside the property. He stated that the Parish Council has supported it and then had withdrawn their support.

Member Questions to Officers

- 103. Councillor Culver referred to point 2.1 of the report which referred to a previous planning application, and asked what the date for this application was. Mr Till was unable to provide the date, but Mr Cork was able to confirm that it was from 1994.
- 104. Councillor Simpson asked what approved new builds applications for Kintbury were outstanding, and also what the target that Kintbury had in the Forward LRP. The Chairman did not think this was a relevant question as this application only referred to a single dwelling.
- 105. Councillor Woollaston asked Officers to indicate where the inaccuracies in the report were. Mr Till replied that, he was not clear from his correspondence with Mr Cork and the Planning file what these inaccuracies were. From the outcome of the Committee site visit, Mr Till thought Mr Cork may be referring to the fact that he did not accept that the study bedroom should be considered as a third bedroom, which Officers would dispute because the plans indicated the room met the minimum size requirement for a bedroom. In addition, there was a concern that the Officer's measurement of the rear garden and space may be incorrect and he confirmed that it was approximately 30sqm and not 15sqm as stated in the Case Officer's report, albeit 30sqm was still far below the recommended standard of 75sqm for a two bedroom house. Also, the Applicant felt that Officers had not correctly represented his plans for sustainable energy and fuel efficiency for the site. Mr Cork had submitted a sustainable energy statement, but this was too late for consideration by Officers or Members. However, if Members were minded to approve the application and wanted some form of commitment from the Applicant of sustainable energy solutions, there was always the option of applying a condition.
- 106. Councillor Lynne Doherty sought clarification on Officers' highway safety concerns. Mr Goddard stated that the objection was on the basis that the proposal did not comply with the Council's parking standards and the Housing Site Allocations DPD for a 3 bedroom dwelling, which required 3 parking spaces. There was no objection on traffic grounds as, over the course of a week, a single dwelling would generate much less traffic during the day than a Church or similar uses. The concern was parking during the evening when other residents would also be at home and this additional parking would cause additional congestion on the streets in the centre of Kintbury, particularly Inkpen Road. This would lead to a safety issue by making the streets narrower, with one-way working in many instances and increased congestion. As evidenced by the letters of objection, residents believed there to be an issue with parking in the area and the Kintbury Parish Council had also raised an objection. Mr Goddard therefore advised Members to support Officer's recommendation, and the Highways' reason, for refusal.
- 107. Councillor Abbs asked, if members were minded to approve the application, what impact would this have on policy and could this decision be referenced by other potential Applicants to leverage approval? Mr Till stated that this proposal was unique in that there were public benefits potentially to retaining the building to be evaluated against the failure to comply with parking policy. He indicated that members may choose to give a different weighting to those public benefits in terms of retaining the Methodist Church building within the Conservation Area in a viable use and that weighting may be considered to overwhelm the concerns in respect of

parking policy. As such, Mr Till confirmed that Officers would not be concerned that the circumstances as such could be generally replicated across the District eroding the policy.

Debate

- 108. Councillor Hilary Cole opened the debate. She suggested that the two issues were amenity space and parking. In respect of amenity space, commercial buildings that were converted to dwellings under permitted development rights had little or no amenity space, so the fact there was a limited amount at the site was, in her view, probably acceptable. With regard to parking, she indicated that there were many houses in Kintbury without any parking and the situation had to be accepted as it was. Whilst accepting Mr Goddard's comments about parking standards, she felt this referred more to new build rather than conversions. Councillor Cole considered the proposals to be a nice use of a redundant building and that whatever the use of the building, there would be a parking problem. On this basis, she would be content to go against Officer's recommendations in this instance.
- 109. Councillor Jeff Cant supported Councillor Hilary Cole's comments. In other places, he had seen attractive buildings left to deteriorate over long periods of time due to indecision about allowing other uses. He felt the proposal was an ideal opportunity to preserve the building and was satisfied with the parking issues that had been raised, as well as the amenity issue, and saw no reason not to grant consent.
- 110. Councillor Phil Barnett indicated that he supported the general theme of bringing back into use old buildings such as churches into residential use. His concern was the traffic issue which he had experienced himself when he had arrived on site in lnkpen Road. Members had been able to go to the next door neighbour's garden to see how close to the back door this building was, and what the effect may be on their quality of life. He asked what sort of insulation would be used in the alteration to the building to mitigate the impact on this neighbour. Not only was there a window which would be obscured, but the neighbour made it clear that when services were held, they could easily hear what was being said in the sermon and the singing. For these reasons, he was inclined to agree with Officer's recommendation to refuse planning permission.
- 111. Councillor Woollaston noted that the building was a non-designated heritage asset, but he could not foresee any use other than residential and felt that the alternative would be to see it fall into disrepair, which he considered to be unacceptable.
- 112. Councillor Hilary Cole proposed that Members went against Officer's recommendation and recommended acceptance of the application. This was seconded by Councillor Woollaston.
- 113. The Chairman asked for reasons and conditions.
- 114. Following suggestions by various Members, Mr Till confirmed the conditions and reasons for refusal as set out below.

RESOLVED that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the date of this decision.

<u>Reason:</u> To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). The development must be in accordance with the approved drawings;

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following drawings:

2021/100/001, 2021/100/002, 2021/100/009, 2021/100/010, 2021/100/012, 2021/100/007A, 2021/100/008

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

The external materials used in the exterior of the building hereby approved shall match those used in the existing building.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2012 and the NPPF. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the demolition and construction works shall incorporate and be undertaken in accordance with the approved CMS. The CMS shall include measures for:

- a) A site set-up plan during the works;
- b) Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
- c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
- d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
- e) Erection and maintenance of security hoarding
- f) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;
- g) Hours of construction and demolition work;
- h) Hours of deliveries and preferred haulage routes.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of adjoining land uses and occupiers, and in the interests of highway safety. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS13 and CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, and Policies OVS.5, OVS.6 and TRANS.1 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007). A pre-commencement condition is required because the CMS must be adhered to during all demolition and construction operations.

3. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until a sustainable energy statement has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under a formal discharge of conditions application. The statement shall set out the improvements to energy provision and construction that are to be made to the building in order to improve its energy sustainability credentials including a schedule for implementation of those measures. The approved sustainable energy measures shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved schedule.

Reason: In order to seek the improvement of the sustainability credentials of the building in the interests of addressing climate change and improving quality of life in West Berkshire in accordance with the objectives of the NPPF and Policies CS14 and CS15 of the West Berkshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2012. Irrespective of the

provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any subsequent version thereof no additional windows shall be installed on the southern elevation or roof of the dwelling hereby approved without planning permission having first been granted on an application made for this purpose. Any new or existing roof lights in the dwelling hereby approved shall be obscure glazed and non-opening except where more than 1.7 metres above the floor level of the room which they serve. The dwelling shall not be occupied until all windows in the ground floor southern elevation have been obscure glazed, and these windows and any replacements shall remain obscure glazed thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity in accordance with the NPPF and Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2012. The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until a report confirming that the building complies with Part E1 of the Building Regulations (Protection against sound from other parts of the building and adjoining buildings) has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under a formal discharge of conditions application.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of the amenity of the future occupant and neighbouring occupant. This condition is applied in accordance with the objectives of the NPPF and Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2012.

4. Irrespective of the provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, or any subsequent version thereof, no extensions or outbuildings shall be erected or additions or alterations to the roof of the dwelling hereby approved shall be made without planning permission having been granted on a planning application made for this purpose.

<u>Reason</u>: In the interests of amenity of the occupant and to prevent the overdevelopment of the site in accordance with the NPPF and Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2012.

Reasons:

The benefits of retaining the heritage asset weighed favourably against potential concerns regarding highway safety and amenity.

The fact that Kintbury was well-served by rail as an alternative means of sustainable transport.

(The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 10.28 pm)

CHAIRMAN

Date of Signature